IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00,789

RORY ENRIQUE CONDE,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT,

11TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT RORY ENRIQUE CONDE

Benjamin S. Waxman, Esquire ROBBINS, TUNKEY, ROSS, AMSEL, RABEN, WAXMAN & EIGLARSH, P.A. Specially Appointed Public Defender Counsel for Rory Enrique Conde 2250 Southwest Third Avenue, 4th Floor Miami, Florida 33129

Telephone: (305) 858-9550 Facsimile: (305) 858-7491

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Rory Conde was tried on one count of a six count Indictment charging six separate premeditated murders. (R1-1-4). He appeals his conviction for the premeditated murder of Rhonda Dunn and sentence of death. (R9-1723-5).

A. Guilt Phase

1. Overview. On six different dates from September, 1994, through January, 1995, the bodies of six prostitutes were discovered at roadside locations near the Tamiami Trail (S.W. 8th Street) in Dade County. Each victim had been strangled and died of asphyxiation. DNA testing led police to link the homicides.

In a seemingly unrelated event, in June, 1995, a woman was discovered bound and trapped in Rory Conde's apartment. During the investigation of this crime scene, a beeper was discovered which one of the detectives recognized as possibly having been missing from one of the homicide victims. Mr. Conde was arrested based on this crime victim's identification of him as the person who had bound and raped her.

Shortly after his arrest, Conde was interrogated by homicide detectives investigating the six murders. He eventually gave statements implicating himself. DNA and other crime scene evidence ultimately linked him, his apartment, and his automobile to each of these homicides. Rhonda Dunn, the victim of the homicide for which Conde was tried and convicted, was the last of the homicide victims.

2. **Discovery of the Homicide Victims**. On September 16, 1994, the body

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

of Lazaro Comesana was discovered on a grassy swale of a residential neighborhood near the Tamiami Trail. (v116- 6171-4, 6310-13). He was dressed in women's clothing. (v116 6176, 6192-3; SR1-167). The cause of death was asphyxiation from strangulation. (v117-6381-6401). Body fluids and specimens were collected for rape and DNA testing. (v117-6401-5).

On October 8, 1994, the body of Elisa Martinez was discovered on a grassy swale of a southwest, Miami, residential neighborhood. (v116-6203-7, v117-6254-64; SR1-180-87). She, too, had been strangled to death. (v118-6420-33). Body fluids were collected from her. (v119-6606).

On November 20, 1994, the body of Charity Nava was discovered beside a road of a residential neighborhood near the Tamiami Trail. (v117-6268-76; 6313-18; SR2-236-47). Her back was covered with writing in black magic marker including the following messages: "Third!," "I Will Call Dwight C.H.A.N. 10," a pair of eyes followed by the words "If You Can Catch Me," and "N y R." (v117-6278-9; SR1-189). She, too, had been strangled and died of asphyxiation. (v118-6434-47). Body

The Record on Appeal, consisting of 9 volumes of pleadings and documents from the trial court file, will be referred to by volume and page number, *e.g.*, R3-652. The Transcript of Proceedings, consisting of 149 volumes of trial and other proceedings transcripts, will be referred to by volume and page number, *e.g.*, v86-3215. The Supplemental Record on Appeal, consisting of 4 volumes of exhibits, will be referred to by volume and page number, *e.g.*, SR3-444-6. The First Supplemental Record on Appeal, consisting of 4 volumes of pleadings and transcripts related to Mr. Conde's various motions to suppress evidence and statements, will be referred to by volume and page number, *e.g.*, SRiii-362.

 \underline{CASE}

fluids were collected for rape and DNA testing. (v117-6272-3).

On November 26, 1994, the body of Wanda Crawford was discovered in a grassy, roadside area near the Tamiami Trail. (v117-6310-20). Crawford also had been strangled to death. (v118-6447-66). Rape kit testing was conducted.

On December 17, 1994, the body of Necole Schneider was discovered in a grassy swale of another residential neighborhood near the Tamiami Trail. (v117-6329-35, 6340-54). She was wearing a dress and a single shoe. (v117-6343). There were tire marks nearby and a mark on her right leg which the police believed had been made by a tire. (*Id.* at 6344-5). Schneider had been strangled to death. (v118-6466-79). Body fluid samples were collected for testing. (v117-6335).

Dunn's body was discovered on January 12, 1995, also in a grassy swale near the Tamiami Trail. (v123-7091). She was clothed only in a silk jacket and white spandex shorts. (V123-7092). Dunn died from strangulation asphyxiation. (v123-7138). Bodily fluids and specimens were collected. (v123-7125-30).

3. The Link Between the Homicides; Investigative Link to Rory Conde. By Thanksgiving, 1994, between the third and fourth homicides, the police, through DNA analysis, had established a link between the murders. (v119-6664-5, 6676-80). The existence of this link was conveyed to the homicide detectives. (v119-6679-80, 6716-17; v125-7200-1). As DNA links between the subsequent homicides continued to be discovered, the homicide detectives were apprised. (v119-6716-17).

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

On June 19, 1995, a woman was discovered half naked, wrapped in duct tape, and trapped in Conde's apartment. She identified Conde as her assailant. (v118-6536-48). A Miami-Dade homicide detective dispatched to Conde's apartment during the subsequent investigation identified a green beeper that he believed belonged to one of the homicide victims but was missing. (v117-6299-6309). Shortly afterwards, a Miami-Dade police DNA specialist advised the homicide detectives that Conde might be involved with the homicides. (v119-6720). Further investigation linked Conde to his grandmother, Maria Rojas, who resided in Hialeah.

4. The Arrest and Interrogation of Rory Conde. On Saturday, June 24, 1995, four armed Miami-Dade homicide detectives went to Conde's elderly grandmother's apartment to locate him for interrogation. (v122-6963-68). Ms. Rojas was noticeably nervous. After Rojas indicated Rory was present, the detectives entered. (v122-6967-72; v123-7014). Detective Estopinan observed Rory in a back room, kneeling beside a bed. (v122-6972). He ordered Rory to freeze. Rory immediately got up and walked toward the front of the apartment. (v122-6972-3). Estopinan grabbed Rory and escorted him outside where he handcuffed him. (v122-6973-5).

The detectives took Rory to the Miami-Dade homicide bureau. They had Rory execute a *Miranda* rights waiver, a consent to search his apartment, and a consent to

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

search his automobile. (v122-6977-84; v123-6994-7003; v125-7211-32; SR2-350-55). About two hours later, the detectives had Rory sign a consent to provide saliva and blood sample which were collected from him. (v125-7232-33; SR2-298-9).

Rory remained in police custody for nearly 14 hours. (v123-7016-17). He was interrogated by at least three veteran homicide detectives in an interrogation room for more than 12 hours. (v123-7017-18; v125-7246-7, 7249; v127-7555). The detectives showed Rory photographs of the homicide victims. (v125-7247-8). They advised him that there was physical evidence, including DNA, that connected him to the homicides and that he would be charged with these crimes soon. (v123-7018-19; v127-7569). They told him "it would be best" if he were truthful. (v123-7019). Rory identified Martinez and stated that he had used her services before. (v125-7248). The interrogation terminated at 2:30 a.m. the next morning when Rory was taken to TGK, a detention facility. He continued to deny any involvement with the homicides. (v125-7246-9).

On Sunday, June 25, 1999, at approximately 2:00 p.m., the detectives retrieved Rory from TGK. (v125-7251-2, 7254-6; v127-7564). After placing him back in the interrogation room, they had Rory execute another *Miranda* waiver. (v125-60; SR2-359). The interrogation continued several hours until Rory was allowed to use a telephone. (v125-7267-8; v127-7565-6). Rory spoke on a telephone for about 45 minutes to his grandmother, and then his wife and children. (v125-7268). Lead

 \underline{CASE}

detective Romagni overheard Conde tell his wife that he loved her and the children and that he was "sorry for everything." (V125-7268-9; v127-7571-2).

At approximately 5:00 p.m., when interrogation recommenced, Romagni testified that Rory stated he had "killed them." (v125-7270-2). In response to Romagni's questioning, Rory gave a statement about each of the six homicides. (v125-7279-82). This interrogation lasted approximately two hours.

Thereafter, the detectives began interrogating Rory about the homicides a second time, this time in greater detail. (v125-7282-7318). Part way through this interrogation the detectives were advised that Rory would have to be returned to jail so that he could be transported to a bond a hearing. (v125-7283-4). At this point, in an effort to get a formal statement, Romagni terminated the interrogation, summoned a court reporter, and began taking a stenographic statement. (v125-7284).

Rory's formal statement spanned 175 pages. (SR2-360-536). The statement commenced at 11:50 a.m. and terminated at 2:50 a.m. (v126-7354-5).

5. The Confession. (v126-7362-7504; SR3-360-536) After waiving his *Miranda* rights, (v126-7363-5), Rory told the detectives about his background and family. (v126-7365-6). He stated that after problems developed in his marriage he began using prostitutes from the Tamiami Trail. (v126-7366-7). His wife Carla accused him of cheating and eventually left with their children. Rory blamed himself and the prostitutes for the demise of his marriage and family. (v126-7367).

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

Rory identified a photograph of Lazaro Comesana. (v126-7366-9). Believing Comesana was a female prostitute, he explained how he picked him up, agreed to pay for sex, and brought him back to his apartment. (*Id.* at 7370-4). Comesana performed fellatio on him until he ejaculated. (*Id.* 7375-7). While reaching down to grab Comesana's breasts, Rory realized the prostitute was a man. (*Id.* 7377-8). Rory was devastated. (*Id.*). He then got behind Comesana, wrapped his left arm around his neck, and choked him for 15 to 20 seconds. (*Id.* at 7379). Rory laid Comesana on the floor on his chest, removed his pantyhose, and engaged in anal intercourse with him until he ejaculated. (*Id.* at 7379-80). Rory then redressed him.

Rory explained that he killed Comesana out of his anger about Comesana's deception and his belief that Carla and his children had left him because of his use of prostitutes. (*Id.* at 7380-81). He described kneeling over Comesana's body for 10 minutes while he blamed him for the loss of his wife and children. (*Id.* at 7980-81). He then made the sign of a cross over Comesana's body. (*Id.* at 7382).

Rory carried Comesana's body to his car and drove to the Tamiami Trail area where he placed Comesana's body. (*Id.* at 7382-8). Rory returned home feeling extremely paranoid. This lasted several days. He stated that he missed work the following Monday and was a "nervous wreck." (*Id.* at 7389-90).

Rory next identified a picture of Eliza Martinez. (v126-7391). He previously had had a few dates with her; she was the next prostitute he saw after Comesana.

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

(*Id.*). Rory explained how the anger and anguish he felt from the loss of his wife and family had been growing. (*Id.* at 7392). He picked up Martinez on Southwest 8th Street. (*Id.* at 7393). After agreeing on a price for sex, he brought Martinez to his apartment. (*Id.* at 7395-6). Rory took off his pants and laid on his bed. (*Id.* at 7397). He described Martinez's clothing and stated that she got undressed. After a couple of minutes of fellatio, Rory ejaculated. (*Id.* at 7399-74). He stated that Martinez went to the bathroom and came back and sat on the bed. He turned on the television. He then got behind Martinez, put his left arm around her neck, and squeezed for 15 to 20 seconds. (*Id.* at 7401-2). She did not struggle and fell to the floor.

Rory redressed Martinez. He blamed her for his problems, accused her of killing him, then made the sign of the cross over her and asked for forgiveness. (*Id.* at 7402-4). He stated that he killed her because she took away everything important to him. He then described how he carried her to his automobile and drove to a nearby residential location where he placed her body. (*Id.* at 7405-8).

Rory next identified a picture of Charity Nava, the next prostitute he saw after Martinez. (V126-7411). He explained how his anger about the loss of his family had mounted but the rage had dissipated after he had killed Martinez. He stated that the rage had built up, again. He described driving to the Tamiami Trail to "cool off." (*Id.* at 7412). He was not looking for a prostitute. Ultimately, he encountered Nava from whom he solicited sex. After agreeing on a price, Nava got into Rory's vehicle and

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

went with him back to his apartment. (*Id.* at 7515-16). After putting on a condom, Rory had intercourse with Nava for about 10 minutes. (*Id.* at 7418).

Nava disposed of the condom in the bathroom and returned to the bedroom. She laid with Rory for 15 to 30 minutes while they watched T.V. (*Id.* at 7419). They had sex again. When they finished, Rory continued watching T.V.; Nava listened to music in headphones, ignoring Rory. (*Id.* at 7420). Rory then described strangling Nava from behind. Nava did not struggle. (*Id.* at 7424).

Rory stated that he placed Nava on the floor and performed anal intercourse on her for 1 to 2 minutes until he ejaculated. (*Id.* at 7422). He then leaned over her body and blamed her for his problems. He stated that he decided to kill Nava because she ignored him after their second intercourse. (*Id.* at 7423).

Rory decided to write on Nava's back with black magic marker. (v126-7424). He wrote "Third" because this was the third homicide. (*Id.* at 7425). Under this he wrote: "I will call Dwight (a well-known local T.V. news anchorperson) C.H.A.N. 10." (*Id.* at 7427). Under this he wrote "See If You Can Catch Me." Under this he wrote "N y R," meaning his mother, Nadia, and him. (*Id.* at 7428). Rory said the same things over Nava's body that he had said to the others. (*Id.* at 7432). Rory then redressed her.

Rory described how he brought Nava's body to his car and drove to a nearby residential area where he placed it. (*Id.* at 7432-6). Back at his apartment, Rory

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

discarded the property Nava had left but kept a beeper. (v126-7437-8). He remarked that he cared about Nava but that she had caused him a lot of misery.

Rory stated that after Nava's murder, he was invited and went to have Thanksgiving dinner with Carla's family. (v126-7439). Carla rejected him and made him feel unwelcome. He became very angry. (v126-7441).

After leaving, Rory stated that he went to the Tamiami Trail to cool down. (*Id.* at 7441-2). Here he met Wanda Crawford. (*Id.* at 7442-3). After agreeing on a price for sex, Crawford got into Rory's car and went to Rory's apartment. (v126-7444-6). After sex, Rory explained that they laid together on his bed for ten minutes. (*Id.* at 7446-7). They had sex a second time after which Crawford took a bath and Rory watched T.V. (*Id.* at 7448). After Crawford returned and laid down with Rory, he described grabbing her around her neck with his left arm and squeezing for ten to fifteen seconds. (*Id.* at 7449). Rory stated Crawford did not struggle.

Rory did not remember if he had sex with Crawford after killing her. (*Id.* at 7450). He described redressing her, carrying her to his car, and then driving to a different area where he placed her body. (*Id.* at 7451-4). Rory recalled kneeling over Crawford and verbally blaming her for his problems. (*Id.* at 7455). Upon returning to his apartment, he stated that he felt the same paranoia that he had felt before.

Rory next identified a picture of Necole Schneider, the next prostitute he had met. (v126-7457). Rory stated that since the last murder his relationship with Carla

 \underline{CASE}

had deteriorated and that Carla had told him she would not go back to him and did not love him anymore. (*Id.* at 7459). Rory was devastated by this.

When he met Schneider, Rory explained that he was not looking to kill anyone. Once they agreed on a price for sex, Schneider got into Rory's vehicle and they drove to his apartment. (V126-7460). After sex, Rory felt his anger overwhelm him again. He then strangled Schneider. He stated that she struggled a little and scratched him on his chest. (v126-7463-4). Rory stated that this took only twenty seconds. He admitted having had anal sex with Schneider after she was dead. (*Id.* at 7465). Rory verbally blamed Schneider for his problems. (*Id.* at 7465). He then redressed Schneider, carried her to his car, and drove to a location close to Carla's house where he left her on a grassy swale. (*Id.* at 7466-9). Rory returned to his apartment with the same feelings of despair and paranoia. Once home, he disposed of Schneider's purse and discarded her fingernails that had broken off. (v126-7472-3).

Rory next identified a photograph of Rhonda Dunn. (v126-7474). He recalled picking her up near the Tamiami Trail. He was not looking for a prostitute. When Rory saw Dunn, she reminded him of Carla. (*Id.* at 7475-6). After they agreed on a price for sex, Rory brought Dunn to his apartment. He described what she was wearing and again stated that she reminded him of Carla. (*Id.* at 7479). After they had sex, they watched T.V. on Rory's bed. (*Id.* at 7481). They had sex again. Rory explained that after Dunn got up to go to the bathroom, he suddenly went up behind

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

her, put his arm around her neck, and began to strangle her. (v126-7481). Rory explained that Dunn struggled, hitting him on the head with a glass pear from on top of the T.V. (*Id.* at 7483). The two fell on the floor where they continued to struggle. Rory stated that between twenty and thirty seconds later, Dunn was dead. (*Id.* at 7485).

Rory repeated that Dunn had reminded him of Carla. (v126-7487). After she was dead, Rory verbally blamed her for destroying his life. Ultimately, Rory redressed her, took her to his car, and drove to a nearby location where he laid her on the grass. (*Id.* at 7488-91). Upon returning home, Rory disposed of Dunn's purse, beeper, and fingernails which had broken off during the struggle. (*Id.* at 7492-3).

Rory again explained the pain he felt from the destruction of his family and the anger that he projected onto the prostitutes. (v126-7494). He stated that this rage had grown since the last killing and that it peaked when he saw Dunn. (*Id.* at 7492). He denied choosing these victims and insisted, instead, that they were killed because they happened to be there. (*Id.* at 7501). Rory stated that he stopped killing after Dunn because his relationship with Carla had improved. (*Id.* at 7494).

6. Pretrial Proceedings. On July 12, 1995, Conde was charged in a Dade County indictment with six counts of first degree murder. (R1-1-4).² He pled not

² The indictment charged the murders as follows: count I - Comesana; count II - Martinez; count III - Nava; count IV - Crawford; count V - Schneider; and count (continued...)

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

guilty. (v37-18). The trial court granted Conde's Motion for Severance of Counts. (R1-65-66; v5-20-24; R4-636-9). Subsequently, the state filed its Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Other Crimes Wrongs, or Acts indicating its intent to introduce evidence of the other five homicides at each of the six murder trials. (R1-81-83). Conde moved to exclude this evidence. (R4 693-714). The court denied his motion in limine, (v86-3189-3220), but granted his motion to reconsolidate the charges. (R5-874-81, 887-9, 906-27; v86-3220-7; v87-3272-87). However, upon the state's certiorari petition, the order of consolidation was reversed. *State v. Conde*, 743 So.2d 78 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999). Ultimately, Mr. Conde was tried only on Count VI for the murder of Rhonda Dunn.

Around July, 1997, plea negotiations ensued. An agreement was reached that, in exchange for Mr. Conde's guilty pleas to the six homicides and multiple charges arising from two additional pending cases, Mr. Conde would be sentenced to consecutive, life sentences without the possibility of parole. (R3-415-16, 426-33). The state represented that the victims' families, the investigating police agencies, and the Dade County State Attorney had no objection. The trial court also indicated its willingness to accept the plea.

Shortly before the change of plea hearing, the prosecutor advised defense

_

²(...continued) VI - Dunn. (R1-1-4).

<u>PAGE(S)</u>

counsel of "a change of heart" and withdrew the plea offer. The state then filed Objections to Proposed Sentencing and a motion to recuse the trial judge based on the court's alleged participation in the negotiations. (R3-415-17, 429). At the hearing, after filing a response, (R3-415-17), Circuit Judge Richard Margolius granted the state's motion. (v36-620). Mr. Conde's Motion to Enforce the Plea Agreement or to Preclude the State from Seeking the Death Penalty, (R3-426-33, 441-6), was denied by successor Circuit Judge Gerald Bagley. (v41-727-41).³

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