IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RORY ENRIQUE CONDE, Appellant,

CASE NO. SC00-789

vs.

T.C. 95-19816

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

_____/

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, 11TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

DEBRA RESCIGNO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY

Florida Bar No. 0836907 1515 N. Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL.

Telephone: (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Appellee

GENERAL

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

⁷Although this was not asserted as a ground, the State relies on the "right for the wrong reason" principle to support the trial court's ruling.

746. <u>See Williams v. State</u>, 621 So.2d 413, 414 (Fla.1993) (evidence of other crimes or acts may be admissible, even if the facts are not similar, if they are relevant to prove a matter of consequence other than bad character or propensity); <u>Evans v.</u> <u>State</u>, 693 So.2d 1096, 1102 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).

Here, the limited evidence about G.M. was also relevant to show Conde's motive and intent. <u>See Zack v. State</u>, 753 So.2d 9, 16-17 (Fla. 2000)(holding that evidence of crimes which the defendant committed in the two (2) weeks preceding the murder were relevant to show motive, intent, modus operandi and the entire context from which the murder arose).

Conde's reliance upon the line of cases culminating with <u>Keen v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 263 (Fla. 2000), is misplaced. <u>Keen</u> involves the principle that an extrajudicial statement to a police officer is generally not admissible for the purpose of explaining the logical sequence of events leading up to an investigation and arrest. Here, however, the limited testimony about G.M., including her identification of Conde⁸ was admitted into evidence through a fire rescue employee, Ms. Marie Osaba. Thus, the cases relied upon by Conde (IB 50), do not apply. Further, the extremely limited nature of the testimony ensured

⁸G.M.'s identification of Conde was admitted through the "excited utterance" exception to the hearsay rule.

that it did not become a "feature" of the trial.

Finally, even if error, the admission of the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and there is no reasonable probability that the alleged error affected the outcome of this DiGuilio, 491 So.2d at 1139. Considering the case. See evidence presented in this case-Conde's confession to Rhonda's murder and the other 5, which was corroborated by forensic evidence, including DNA, fiber and tire evidence -- there is no doubt that the very limited testimony about G.M. did not affect the jury's verdict. Conde next challenges testimony from Detective Martinez about a warning he gave Rhonda approximately 36 hours before her murder. Detective Martinez testified that his biggest concern for Rhonda was that she was working alone and he told her to not work alone, to try to work with the rest of the girls and he made sure that she was aware that a person was strangling prostitutes on S.W. 8th street (T 6797-98). Rhonda would just smile and laugh every time he told her (T 6798).

This testimony was relevant to corroborating the State's theory of premeditation. Because Rhonda had been warned about a strangler, it is reasonable to assume that she would have been careful about who she decided to "date." Conde's demeanor had to be calm and non-threatening for Rhonda to enter his car. He
could not have been on the verge of an "internal combustion" of emotions. That supports the State's theory that Conde's actions were deliberate and premeditated, part of a plan. Further, the testimony supports the State's identity evidence. Conde is soft-spoken and non-threatening and the person who Rhonda voluntarily went with had to be the same. Finally, it was relevant to prove Rhonda's state of mind. <u>See Brooks v. State</u>, 787 So.2d 765, 771 (Fla. 2001)(victim's state of mind may be relevant to an element of the crime or may become an issue if used to rebut the defendant's theory of defense).

Conde's last challenge is to the introduction of testimony, from Detective Estopinan that when he walked into Conde's grandmother's apartment to arrest him, he saw Conde kneeling by the side of the bed, trying to conceal himself (T 6975). Although Conde objected to this testimony prior to trial, he failed to renew his objection at the time of the testimony; thus, his objection is not preserved. <u>See Maharaj v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 786, 790 (Fla. 1992)(holding that defendant had failed to preserve issue for review when he filed a motion in limine pretrial but did not renew his objection when the evidence was introduced). The admission of this evidence cannot be fundamental error as it merely describes how and where Conde was found and arrested.

POINT VI & X

THE PROSECUTOR'S VARIOUS COMMENTS DURING OPENING AND CLOSING ARGUMENT DID NOT DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL (Restated).

Appellant complains that the prosecutor made several improper comments during opening and closing arguments, the cumulative effect of which deprived him of a fair trial and fair sentencing hearing. The State submits that the comments in question are either procedurally barred because they were not preserved for appellate review, are not improper, or if improper, do not constitute fundamental error.

Appellant failed to preserve all but three of the allegedly improper comments for appellate review. The proper procedure to preserve review of an allegedly improper comment is to object, request a curative instruction, and/or move for a mistrial. <u>Kearse v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 2000); <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994); <u>Duest v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985). Here, Conde failed to object to all but one (1) of the allegedly improper opening statement comments and did not move for a mistrial. Further, of the eleven (11) improper comments Conde claims were made during closing argument, he objected to only two. Again, he did not seek a mistrial. Having failed to object and move for a mistrial, Conde has preserved only 3 comments for appellate review.

This Court has long held that absent a showing of fundamental error, the failure to object to an alleged improper comment bars review. See Brooks v. State, 762 So.2d 879, 905 (Fla. 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So.2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1994); <u>Street v. State</u>, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1994); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1992). "Fundamental error has been defined as the type of error which 'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" Urbin <u>v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 411, 418 n. 8 (Fla.1998)). <u>See Crump v.</u> State, 622 So.2d 963, 972 (Fla.1993) (holding that since prosecutorial comments did not constitute fundamental error, absence of preservation of issue by defense counsel precluded review); <u>Pacifico v. State</u>, 642 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

Even where a challenged comment is the subject of a contemporaneous objection, this Court has repeatedly recognized that wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975). Logical inferences may be drawn, and prosecutors are allowed to advance all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to

effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws. <u>Spencer v.</u> <u>State</u>, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961). The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of such discretion is shown. <u>Thomas; Paramore v. State</u>, 229 So.2d 855 (Fla. 1969), <u>modified</u>, 408 U.S. 935 (1972). Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complained of remarks. <u>Id</u>.

ATTACKS ON CONDE'S CHARACTER

complains that, during opening argument, Conde the prosecutor unfairly attacked his character by referring to him as "this strangler," "their attacker," "their killer," "the man who went out hunting for victims," the man the police had dubbed "the Tamiami strangler" and referred to the police task force as "the strangler task force." These unpreserved comments were not improper and do not constitute fundamental error. Read in context, they cannot be construed as a direct or implicit attack upon defendant's character, but rather, as a description of what happened and an outline or preview of what the evidence would show. The prosecutor began his opening by describing where Rhonda's body was found and its condition (T 6136-39). He informed the jury that Rhonda was a prostitute, but that she had never consented or agreed to give up her life (T 6139). The

prosecutor then noted that because Rhonda worked alone, the police had warned her about a man in the area who they had called the Tamiami strangler. That he was out there killing prostitutes." (T 6139). The police made sure that she "knew that five other prostitutes had been murdered. And that each of them had been murdered in the same way. Each of them had been strangled. Strangled by that I mean, not with a rope around their neck or anything else using hands or arm in physically manually strangled to death." (T 6139).

Continuing the prosecutor went over what the police knew, how and where the victims were found and the condition of their bodies. The prosecutor explained that some of them held semen evidence, "[e]vidence left by **their attacker**, **their killer**." (T 6140). The prosecutor stated that the police "new (sic) about **this strangler**" (T 6140). A little later the prosecutor discussed how Conde became a suspect, how the police were in his apartment, in response to the emergency call from G.M., and how they observed the green beeper that had belonged to victim Charity Nava and suddenly realized that "they [were] standing inside the strangler's home." (T 6143).

Discussing the DNA evidence, the prosecutor explained how the task force geared up once they were told that the DNA was from the same perpetrator for 4 of the 6 victim's, "the

detectives who had been workng on the strangler task force for months were now ready to look for one man . . . " (T 6145). Finally, the prosecutor told the jurors that this case was about Rhonda's murder, not about whether the police or some scientific expert didn't do the right thing, "this is about a man who went out hunting for victims."

These unpreserved comments do not amount to attacks on Conde's character. The purpose of opening argument is to "outline what an attorney expects the evidence will establish" <u>Bush v. State</u>, 809 So.2d 107, 118 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). That is exactly what the prosecutor was doing here, none of his comments directly referred to or mentioned Conde, all the prosecutor was doing was describing what had happened to Rhonda which entailed mentioning her killer.

The only comment that was objected to during opening was the prosecutor's statement, made while discussing the fiber evidence, that "each and every one of the victims of the Tamiami strangler were found to have these fibers [from the bathroom carpeting] on them." (T 6149). Again, this comment was not directly linked to Conde and was simply a reference to the man who had killed these victims.

Conde also argues that several attacks on his character were made during <u>closing argument</u> including an <u>unpreserved</u> comment

made while the prosecutor was telling the jurors that they knew what the truth was, they knew that "this defendant went out hunting for victims. That was his thing." (T 7822). Again, read in context, this was not an attack on Conde's character, but rather, a comment on the evidence and "fair reply" to defense counsel's closing argument that Conde killed all six victims, but did so in an emotional rage, not in a premeditated fashion. <u>See Hazelwood v. State</u>, 658 So.2d 1241, 1243 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (it is "universal that counsel is accorded a wide latitude in making arguments to the jury particularly in retaliation to prior comments made by opposing counsel.").

There was an objection to the prosecutor's reference, during closing argument, to the fact that Conde's wife found out that he was an adulterer: "[t]he defendant broke his marriage vows by going out with prostitutes and as a result of that his wife discovers it. And what does --she obviously learns first of all he is an **adulterer**, but second of all even worse look who else he is having unprotected sex with." (T 7776). Discussing how Conde blamed the prostitutes for breaking up his marriage, the prosecutor stated: "he is the one who created the situation. He is the one who should be convicted. He is the one who is a **sociopath.**"

The trial court gave a curative instruction, telling the

jury to disregard those two labels -- adulterer and sociopath (T 7789). In <u>Moore</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S186 (Fla. March 7, 2002), this Court noted that it has continually expressed its intolerance for improper prosecutorial arguments and comments, especially in death cases. However, the court found two isolated references to Moore as "the devil," in that case, although ill advised, to be less problematic than the pervasive and extensive conduct condemned in other cases, like Brooks v. State, 762 So.2d 879, 905 (Fla.2000) and Urbin v. State, 714 So.2d 411, 418-22 (Fla.1998). See Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 191 n. 5 (Fla.1997) (holding that a prosecutor's isolated comments that defense counsel engaged in "cowardly" and "despicable" conduct and that the defendant was a "malevolent ... a brutal rapist and conscienceless murderer" was not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial); Carroll, 815 So.2d 601 (Fla. 2002)(finding prosecutor's isolated statements that defendant was the "boogie man" and a "creature that stalked the night" who "must die" not so egregious or cumulative in scope to be error).

THE REFERENCE TO "UNCHARGED OFFENSES"

Next, Conde argues that the prosecutor made reference to the 5 collateral homicides in opening statement and reminded the jury about them in closing argument. Again, all of these

alleged errors are unpreserved as Conde failed to object to them. Further, it is clear that most of these statements were referring to what Conde said in his confession, his own words, which is not <u>Williams</u> rule evidence. The remaining statements, read in context, were merely proper comments on the evidence and were "fair reply" to the defense counsel's argument wherein he asserted that Rhonda's murder was not premeditated and that there was no proof of that. <u>See Hazelwood</u>, 658 So.2d at 1243.

Appellant did object to the prosecutor's reference to the testimony about G.M. in closing; however, that too, was merely a comment on the evidence. <u>See also White v. State</u>, 377 So. 2d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 1979)("[i]t is proper for a prosecutor in closing argument to refer to the evidence as it exists before the jury and to point out that there is an absence of evidence on a certain issue").

"ATTACKS" ON DEFENSE COUNSEL

The last argument raised here is that the prosecutor's closing unfairly attacked defense counsel. Again, these are unpreserved and do not constitute fundamental error. Defense counsel's closing focused on all the alleged mistakes the police, medical examiners and forensics people had made and tried to use that to create a reasonable doubt about the

credibility of the physical evidence. In reply, the prosecutor pointed out that defense counsel was trying to obscure the real issues, leading the jury down the wrong path. These cannot reasonably be construed as attacks on defense counsel. They were fair reply to defense counsel's closing and fair comment on the evidence presented. <u>See Chandler</u>, at 191 n. 5 (holding that a prosecutor's isolated comments that defense counsel engaged in "cowardly" and "despicable" conduct were not reversible error).

PENALTY PHASE

Appellant's final point, raised under Point X, is that he was denied a fair sentencing hearing because the prosecutor made impermissible arguments during the penalty phase closing argument. In order for improper comments made in the closing arguments of a penalty phase to constitute fundamental error, they must be so prejudicial as to taint the jury's recommended sentence. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 124 So.2d 481, 484 (Fla.1960); <u>Thomas</u> <u>v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 970, 985 (Fla.1999)

In discussing the sexual abuse that Conde allegedly suffered as a child, the prosecutor noted that whatever Conde may have felt before, he now feels the power of killing "and he killed, and he killed and he killed," and he killed Rhonda because he had the power to do so (T 9102). This alleged error was not objected to and therefore is unpreserved. Read in context, the

prosecutor was trying to rebut Conde's mental health experts and their testimony that he killed in an emotional rage, not because he derived pleasure from it. The jury had already decided that Conde was a killer; thus, this comment is not fundamental error.

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